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YANLORD LAND GROUP LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the- financial
year ended December 31, 2010.
1 DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Zhong Sheng Jian

Zhong Siliang

Chan Yiu Ling

Hong Zhi Hua

Ronald Seah Lim Siang

Ng Ser Miang

Ng Shin Ein

Ng Iui Ping

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS
BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any
arrangement whose object is 1o enable the directors of the Cornpany to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate, except for the options
mentioned in paragraph 5 of the Report of the Directors.




DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The ditectors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share
capital and debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’
shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act (“Act™) except
as follows:

Holdings Holdings in which
registered in the directors are deemed
name of directors to have an interest
Name of directors and companies At beginning  Atend At beginning Atend
" in which interests are held of year of year of year of year
The Company
a)  Ordinaty shares
Zhong Sheng Jian 5,487,000 5,487,000 17267514,000 1,267,514,000
Zhong Siliang 20,000 20,000 - -
Chan Yiu Ling © 20,000 20,000 25,000 25,000
Hong Zhi Hua @ 310,000 310,000 - -
Ronald Seah Lim Siang 50,000 30,000 - -
Ng Ser Miang 400,000 400,000 - -
Ng Shin Ein 38,000 38,000 - -
b)  Convertible notes due 2012 (S$’000)
Zhong Sheng Jian 16,750 - - -
Ng Ser Miang 500 - - -
Ng Shin Ein 250 - - - :
¢)  Senior notes due 2017 (US$000) |
Zhong Sheng Jian ] 4,000 - -
Ng Ser Miang - 1,500 - - :

& Zhong Sheng Jian is deemed to be interested in 1,267,514,000 ordinary shares in the Company
held by Yanlord Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“YHPL”). YHPL is a company which is owned by Zhong
Sheng Jian (95% shareholding interest) and his spouse (5% shareholding interest).

@ 25,000 shares in the Corapany held by the spouse of Chan Yiu Ling.

@ Interest held via nominee account.




The directors’ beneficial interest in other related corporations’ shares and debentures were as follows:

Holdings Holdings in which
registered in the directors are deemed
name of directors to have an interest

Name of directors and companies At beginning At end At beginning Atend
in which interests are held of year of year of vear of year
Immediaie holding company
Yanlord Holdings Pte. Lid.
(Ordinary shares)
Zhong Sheng Jian 95,000,000 95,000,000 3,000,000 5,000,000
Related corporations
()  Yanlord Capital Pte. Lid.

(Ordinary shares}

Zhong Sheng Jian - - 1 : 1
(ii) Yanlord Industyies Pte. Lid.

(Ordinary shares)

Zhong Sheng Jian - - 1 1

By virme of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Zhong Sheng Jian is deemed to have an interest
in the Company and all the related corporations of the Company.

The directors” interests in the shares and senior notes of the Company as at January 21, 2011 were the
same as at December 31, 2010.

DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

Since the beginning of the financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit
which is required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Act, by reason of a contract made by the
Company or a related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a
company in which he has a substantial financial interest, except for salaries, bomuses and other benefits
as disclosed in these financial statements or the financial statements of the relevant related corporations
within the Group, if any. Certain directors received remuneration from related corporations in their
capacity as directors and/or executives of those related corporations.




"5  SHARE OPTIONS AND CONVERTIBLE NQOTES
5.1 Yanlord Land Group Pre-IPQ Share Option Scheme (“Pre-IPO ESOS™)

{a} On June 21, 2006, the options to subscribe for an aggregate of 14,592,000 ordinary shares in the
capital of the Company pursuapt to the Pre-IPG ESOS were duly granted. The Pre-IPO ESOS is
non-recurring and there will be no further issue of any options under this Scheme.

The options under the Pre-IPO ESOS grant the right to the holder to subscribe for new ordinary
shares of the Company at a discount of fifteen percent (15%) of the IPO offer share price of
5$1.08. The options granted under the Pre-IPO ESOS will be exercisable after the second
anniversary of the date of grant of the options and all options must be exercised before the fifth
anniversary from the date of grant of the options.

Each option grants the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company. The
. options may be exercised in full or in parf thereof.

The Pre-IPO ESOS is administered by the Pre-TPG Share Option Management Committee (“Pre-
PO ESOS Committee”) comprising the following members:

Zhong Sheng Jian Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Zhong Siliang Executive Director
Chan Yiu Ling Executive Director

Ronald Seah Lim Siang Lead Independent Director

In exercising its discretion, the Pre-JPO ESOS Committee must act in accordance with any
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Directors.

(b) The details of the movement of the options granted under the Pre-IPO BSOS during the
financial year are set out below:

Balance at Balance at Exercise
. beginning end price
Date of grant of year Granted Exercised Lapsed of year Exercise period per share
June 21, 2006 5,312,000 - (740,000) - 4,572,000 June 22, 2008 to $50.92
June 20, 2011

(c) The details of share options granted under the Pre-JPO ESOS to the directors of the Company are

as follows:
Aggregate options Aggregate options

Options granited since lapsed since

granted commensement of commencement of Aggregate opiions

during Pre-IPOESOSupto  Pre- IPOESOSup to outstanding as at
Directors the year end of year end of year end of year
Chan Yiu Ling “ 700,000 - 700,000
Hong Zhi Hua - 300,000 - 300,000
Zhong Siliang - 300,000 - 300,000

The directors’ interests in the options of the Company as at January 21, 2011 were the same as at
Decernber 31, 2010,




5.2

(@ During the financial year,

() 1o pariicipant to the Pre-IPO ESOS is a controlling shareholder of the Company nor its

associates; and

(i) Do participant to the Pre-IPO ESOS received options which represent 5% or more of the
total number of options available under the Pre-IPO ESOS.

Yanlord Land Group Share Option Scheme 2006 (“ESOS 2006”)

The ESOS 2006 will provide eligible participants with the opportunity to participate in the equity of

.the Company and motivate them towards better performance through increased dedication and loyalty.

The aggregate number of shares that may be issued or issuable under the plan at any time may not
exceed 15% of the then issued share capital.

The Remuneration Commiitee (*RC™) comprises 3 independent directors, and they are Ng Iui Ping,
Ronald Seah Lim Siang and Ng Shin Ein. The RC administers the ESOS 2006.

Options may be granted to employees and directors of the Company or any of the related entities,
which include the subsidiaries or any entities in which the Company holds a substantiai ownership
interest, inciuding any such employees or directors who are associates of the controlling shareholder.
The controlling shareholder is not eligible to participate in the ESOS 2006.

- In general, the plan administrator determines the exercise price of an option. The exercise price may

be a fixed or variable price related to the fair market value of the ordinary shares. The term of each
award will be stated in the award agreement. The term of an award will not exceed 10 years from the
date of the grant, or five years from the date of grant in the case of options granted to non-executive
directors or employees of related entities other than subsidiaries. In general, the plan administrator
determines, or the award agreement specifies, the vesting schedule.

The Board of Directors may at any time amend, suspend or terminate the ESOS 2006. Amendments
to the plan are subject to shareholder approval to the extent required by law, or stock exchange rules
or regulations. Additionally, shareholder approval is specifically required to increase the number of
shares available for issuance under the plan or to exiend the termy of an option beyond 10 years.
Unless terminated earlier, the plan will expire and no further awards may be granted after the tenth
anniversary of the sharebolder’s approval of the plan.

This scheme will continue to be in force at the discretion of the RC subject to a maximum period of
10 years commencing on the date the ESOS 2006 was adopted by the Company in general meeting.
However, ESOS 2006 may contimue beyond the shove stipulated pericd with the approval of
shareholders by ordinary resclution in general meeting and of any relevant authorities that may then
be reguired,

During the financial year, no option was granted under the ESOS 2006.
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5.3 Convertible Notes
The Company issued convertible notes due in 2012 and convertible notes due in 2014 in 2007 and 2009
respectively as disclosed in Note 22 to the financial statements,

6 OPTIONS EXERCISED

During the financial year, 740,000 shares were issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted under
the Pre-IPO ESOS.

Save as disclosed above, no share of the Company or any corporation in the Group was allotted and
issued by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation
in the Group:.

7  UNISSUED SHARES UNDER OPTIONS
Save as disclosed above, there was no option granted by the Company or any corporation in the Group
to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group as at the end
of the financial year. '

8  AUDIT COMMITTEE

At the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises the following members:

Ronald Seah Lim Siang Chairman and Lead Independent Divector
Ng Jui Ping Independent Direcior
Ng Shin Ein Independent Director

The Aundit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore
Companies Act, Cap. 50. The functions performed are detailed in the Corporate Governance Statement,

The Audit Committee has recommended to the directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP,
Singapore for re-appoiniment as external auditors of the Group at the forthcoming Anmial General
Meeting of the Company.




9. AUDITORS

~

The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore, Have expressed their willingness 10 accept re-
appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Kot

.............................................

Zhong Sheng Jian

‘Chan Yn;ng
March 12, 2011 t




YANLORD LAND GROUP LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS

In the opinion of ¢he directors, the consolidated financial staiements pf the Group and tli,a stacemient of
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company set out on pages 11 to 78 are drawn up
80 25 10 give a true and fair view of the state of affpirs of the Group and of the Company as at
December 31, 2010, and of the results, cﬁang_es: in equity and cash flows of thg Group and the chang]:s in
equity of the. Company for the financial. year then ended and atthe date of this staternent, there are
reasonable grounds. ta believe that'the Company will be ahle to pay its debts when they fall due,

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS
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Zhong Sheng Ii;in
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Chan Yiu Ling“
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Deloitte.

Certified Public Accountants
Unigue Entity No. T08LLO721A,
6 Shenton Way #32-C0

DBS Building Tower Two
Singapore 068809

Tel: +65 6224 8288
Fax: +65 6538 6166
www.delaitte.com/sg

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

YANLORD LAND GROUP LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Yanlord Land Group Limited (the Company) and
its subsidiaries (the Group) which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company
as at December 31, 2010, the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on
pages 11 to 78,

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to
provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition;
and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of
true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance abont whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement. '

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statemenis. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the fivancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the anditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design andit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control, An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Deloitie & Touche LLP {Unique Entity No. TOBLEGZZ1A} is an accounting limited liability pertnership segisiered in Singapore
under tha Limited Linbility Pertnerships Act {Chapter 163A).
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Deloitte.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and
statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of
the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the Company as at December 31, 2010 and of the results, changes in equity and cash
flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by

those subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in N
accordance with the provisions of the Act. -

TDefabe 2 feads AP

Public Accountants and i
Certified Public Accountants ' :

Singapore

March 12, 2011
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YANLORD LAND GROUP LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSTTION

December 31, 2010

ASSETS

Non-current assefs
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Praoperiies for development
Investments in subsidiaries
Investment in an associate
Investments in

jointly controlied entities
Available-for-gale investment
Intangible asset
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Completed properties for sale
Properties under development
for sale
Trade receivables
Other receivables and deposits
Non-irade amounts due from:
Subsidiaries
Associate
Jointly controlled entities
Non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries
Other related party
Held-for-trading investment
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and bank balances
Total current assets

Total assets

Note

o wm=

13
14
15

16
11
12
17
18

19
19

GROUP COMPANY
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
273,828 175,313 - -
5,698,645 3,222,995 - -
15,973,484 9,448,015 - -
. - 2,618,181 2,488,269
194,647 136,843 - -
49,348 49,348 - -
613 613 - -
137,652 83,314 . .
22328217 13,117,341 2,618,181 2,488,260
2,802 2,526 - -
875,702 1,160,318 - -
14,163,933 10,196,862 - -
15,857 7,827 . .
688,910 543,269 2,235 2
- - 10,833,322 7,401,906
86 - . -
- 120 - -
908,192 786,138 - -
510 528 - -
9,286 9,741 ; i
5,257 24,347 - -
5814453 6,552,697 11,002 1,193,840
22,485,078 19284373 10,846,559 8,595,748
44.813295 32401714 13464740 11,084,017

11




EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves

Share capital

Reserves

Equity atfributable to equity
holders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total capital and reserves

Non-current Labilities
Bank loans - due after one year
Convertible notes
Senior notes
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-irade amount due to:
A non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary
Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Bank loans - due within one year
Trade payables
Other payables
Non-trade amounts due to:
Subsidiary
Directors
Shareholder

Non-controlling shareholders of

subsidiaries
Income tax payable
Total current liabilitics

Total equity and liabilities

Note

20

17

21

25

(= W=

17

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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GROUP COMPANY
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
7,231,236 7,226,578 7,231,236 7,226,578
5,856,059 4,260,838 (56,694) 86,808
13,087,295 11,487,416 7,174,542 7,313,386
6,743,080 3,916,719 . -
19,830,384 15,404,135  7,174.542  7.313.386
6,617,160 2,448,500 - -
1,772,433 3,210,004 1,772,433 3,210,094
1,939,500 - 1,939,500 -
797,490 566,390 - -
- 196,000 - -
11,126,583  6.421.484 3,711,933 _ 3.210.094
1,942,853 1,210,459 - -
3,092,504 1,760,237 - -
5,910,526 5,221,463 87,750 51,979
- - 2,458,226 482,820
32,470 25,682 32,289 25,495
- 243 - 243
274,458 148,023 - -
2,603,517 2,208,988 - -
13,856,328 10,576,095 2,578,265 560,537
44813295 32401714 13464740  11.084017




YANLORD LAND GROUP LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Financial year ended December 31, 2010

Note

Revenue 26
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other operating income 27
Selling expenses
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses
Finance cost 28
Share of loss of an associate 11
Share of loss of jointly controlled entities 12
Profit before income tax
Income tax 29
Profii for the year 30
Profit atiributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controiling interests
Earnings per share (cents) 31

- Basic

- Diluted

See accompanying notes to financial staterments.

13

WL RS T

GROUP
2010 2009
RMBE'000  RMB'000
7,383,750 7,450,539
(3,354,696  (3,290,140)
4,029,054 4,160,399
1,138,544 654,806
(140,135) (125,263)
(352,784)  (287.616)
(24,254) (6,920)
(133,122) (85.269)
(2,441) -

(683) (7174)
4,514,179 4,309,363
2,170,323) (2,298,426
2,343,856  2,010.937
1,047,977 1,496,263
395,879 514,674
2343856  2.010.937
100.22 79.22
9238  ___74.44




YANLORD LAND GROUP LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARTES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Financial year ended December 31, 2010

Noie

Profit for the year : 30
-Other comprehensive expense:

Currency translation difference

Other comprehensive expense for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income aitributable fo:
Equity holders of the Company

Nor-controlling interests

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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GROUP

2010 2009
RMB*000 RMB’000
2,343,856 2,010,937

(82.191) (4,316)

(82,191 (4,316)
2261665  2.006.621
1,863,102 1,491,936

308,563 514,685
2,261,605 2,006.621
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COMPANY

Currency
trznslation Equity Accomulated
Share capital  _reserve  reserve losses Toul
Note RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000

Balance at January 1, 2009 6,162,005 (375,87 251,570 {78,617y 5,959,081
Total comprehensive income

for the year “ 185,426 - {70.477) 114,949
Issuance of shares pursuant to offering

exercise, net of expenses 1,051,827 - - - 1,051,827
Issnance of shares under Pre-JPO Share Option

Scheme 12,746 - (3,613) - 9,133
Recognition of equity components of

convertible notes, net of expenses (Note A) . - - 279,001 - 279,001
Dividends 32 - - - (100,605) _ {100,605
Balance at December 31, 2009 7,226,578  (190,451) 526,958 (249,659) 7,313,386
Total comprehensive income

for the year - 353,908 - (229,529) 124,379
Issuance of shares under Pre-1PO Share Option

Scheme 4,658 - (1,320} - 3,338
Redemption of converiible notes - - {108,901) - (108,901}
Dividends 32 - - - (157.660) _{157.660)
Balanece al Decemaber 31, 2010 : L231.236 163457 416737 (636.888) 7,174,542

Note A:. Included in the total note issue expenses was non-audit fee paid to the auditors of the Company
amounting to RMB0.339 million in connection with the offer of the convertible notes due 2014 in
2(19 (Note 22).

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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YANLORD LAND GROUP LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Financial year ended December 31, 2010

18

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Operating activities
Profit before income tax 4,514,179 4,309,363
Adjusiments for:
Allowance (Recovery) for doubtful debts and
bad debts written: off 5 )
Depreciation expense 25,587 21,048
Dividend income from available-for-sale investment (5,483) (5,483)
Dividend income from held-for-trading investment (229) (198)
Fair value gain on investment properties (906,296) (562,116)
Fair value loss (gain) on held-for-trading investment 131 (1,740)
Fair value gain on put option (23,410) ~
Finance cost 133,122 85,269
Interest income (45,883) (31,158)
Excess of fair values of net identifiable assets acquired
over the cost of business combination - (344)
Loss on redemption on converiible notes 17,949 -
~ Net (gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 57 103
Net loss (gain) on disposal of investment properties 4,014 (747}
Share of loss of an assoctaie 2,441 -
Share of loss of jointly controlled entities 683 774
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 3,716,233 3,814,764
Properties for development (9,476,257  (3,318,939)
Inventories (366) (271)
Completed properties for sale 284,616 1,230,603
Properties under development for sale (1,438,019 (963,320
Trade and other receivables and deposits (154,985) {287,97TN
Trade and other payables 1,983,059 4,314,279
Cash {used in) generated from operations (5,085,719 4,789,201
Interest paid (760,180} {257,381)
Income tax paid (1,574,014y  (1,209,342)
Net cash (used in) from operating activities (7.419,913) 3,322,478




GROUP

Note 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Investing activities
Acquisition of 2 subsidiary 34 - (24,156)
Investment in an associate 11 (2,441) -
Investments in jointly controlied entities 12 (58,487 (137,617)
Dividend received from available-for-sale investment 5,483 5,483
Dividend received from held-for-trading investment 229 198
Interest received 41,648 24,868
Decrease in pledged bank deposits 19,000 14,735
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,237 1,193
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties 41,452 9,750
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (59,044) (11,254)
Payment for investment properties (714,201) -
Purchase of held-for-trading investment - {2,808)
“Advance to an associate {86) -
Repayment from (advance to) jointly controlled entities 120 (120)
Advance fo non-coniroiling shareholders of subsidiaries {346,150) {562,170)
Advance to other related party - {152)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,070,150) {682,050)
Financing activities
Dividend paid (157,660) {100,603)
Dividends paid to non-controlling
sharcholders of subsidiaries (497,865) (357,251)
Net proceeds on issue of new shares - 1,051,827
Net proceeds on issue of new shares under Pre-IPQ
Share Option Scheme 3,338 9,133
Net proceeds on issue of convertible notes - 1,774,134
Net proceeds on issue of senior noie 1,995,556 -
Proceeds from bank loans 6,399,805 2,742,000
Repayment of bank loans (1,440,977 {4,653,724)
Redemption of convertible notes (1,512,745) -
Advance from (Repayment to) directors 6,687 {8,269
Repayment to a shareholder (243) (20,874)
Repayment to non-coniroiling shareholders of subsidiaries (70,050} (4,688)
Repayment to other related party - )]
Cash imjection from non-conirolling
shareholders of subsidiaries 3,116,272 1,720,992
Return of nop-controlling shareholder’s share of reserves - (50,909)
Net cash from financing activities 7,842,208 2,101,759
Net {decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (647,835) 4,742 187
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 19 6,552,697 1,773,261
Effect of exchanpe rate changes on the balance of cash
held in foreign currencies {G0,3380) 35,249
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19 5,814,453 6.552.697

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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YANLORD LAND GROUP LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010

1 GENERAL

The Company (Registration No. 200601911K) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with its
principal place of business and registered office at 9 Temasek Boulevard, #36-02 Suntec Tower Two,
Singapore 038989. The Company is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

The financial statements are expressed in Renminbi (“RMB™). In 2009, the financial stateroents were
presented in Singapore dollars. During the year, the Group and Company changed the presentation
carrency of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and
statement of changes in equity of the Company to RMB to facilitate the comparison of the Group’s
financial results and financial position with those of other property developers in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) whose financial statements are expressed in RMB.

The principal activity of the Company is to carry on the business of an investment holding company and é
procurer of funds.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and statement of
changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended December 31, 2010 were authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on March 12, 2011.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical
cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Fimancial Reporting Standards
(“FRS”).

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - In the current financial year, the Group has
adopted all the new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRSs (“INT FRSs™) that are relevant to its
operations and effective for annual periods beginming on or after January 1, 2010, The adoption of
these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the Group’s and the Company’s
accounting policies except for the adoption of FRS 103(2009) - Business Combinations and FRS 27
(2009 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements as discussed below. However, the adoption
has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years.
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FRS 103(2009) - Business Combinations

FRS 103(2009) has been adopted in the curremt year and is applied prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after January 1, 2010. The main impact of the
adoption of FRS 103(2009) Business Combinations on the Group has been:

* to allow a choice on a transaction-by-transaction basis for the measurement of non-controlling
interests (previously referred to as ‘minority’ interests) either at fair value or at the nom-
controlling interests’ share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree.

* o change the recognition and subsequent accounting requirements for contingent consideration.
Under the previons version of the Standard, contingent consideration -was recognised at the
acquisition date only if payment of the contingent consideration was probable and it conld be
measured reliably; any subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration were recognised
against goodwill. Under the revised Standard, contingent consideration is measured at fair
value at the acquisition date; subsequent adjusiments to the consideration are recognised against
goodwill only to the extent that they arise from better information about the fair value at the
acquisition date, and they occur within the ‘measurement period’ (a maximum of 12 months
from the acquisition date). All other subsequent adjustments are recognised in profit or loss;

= where the business combination in effect settles a pre-existing relationship between the Gronp
and the acquiree, o require the recognition of a settlement gain or loss; and

* to require that acquisition-related cosis be accounted for separately from the business
combination, generally leading to those costs being recognised as an expense in consolidated
profit or loss as incurred, whereas previously they were accounted for as part of the cost of the
acquisition,

The change in accounting policy has no impact on the earnings per share as reported in the statement
of comprehensive income.

FRS 27(2009) - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

FRS 27(2009) has been adopted for periods beginning on or after Janvary 1, 2010 and has been
applied retrospectively (subject to specified exceptions) in accordance with the relevant transitional
provisions. The revised Standard has affected the Group’s accounting policies regarding changes in
ownership interests in its subsidiaries that do not result in a change in control.

In prior years, in the absence of specific requirements in FRSs, increases in interests in exisiing
subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a
bargain purchase gain being recognised where appropriate; for decreases in interests in existing
subsidiaries that did not involve a loss of control, the difference between the consideration received
and the carrying amount of the share of met assets disposed of was recognised in profit or loss.
Under FRS 27(2009), all such increases or decreases are dealt within equity reserve, with no inpact
-on goodwill or profit or loss.
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When control of a subsidiary is fost as a result of a transaction, event or other circumstance, the
revised Standard requires that the Group derecognise all asgets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests at their carrying amount. Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognised at its
fair value at the date control is lost, with the gain or loss arising recognised in profit or loss.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs, INT FRSs and
amendments to FRS that are relevant to the Group were issued but not effective:

» Improvemenis to Financial Reporting Standards (issued in October 2010)
FRS 24 (Revised} Related Party Disclosures

Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new revised
standards. The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs, INT FRSs and
amendments to FRS in futare periods .will not have a material impact on the financial statements of
the Group in the period of their initial adoption except for the following:

FRS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

FRS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
Janpary 1, 2011. The revised standard clarifies the definition of a related party and consequently
additional parties may be identified as relaied to the reporting entity.

In the period of initial adoption, the changes to related party disclosures, if any, will be applied
retrospectively with restatement of the comparative information.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financiat statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlied by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved
where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as o
obtain benefits from its activities,

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from
the Group’s equity therein. The interest of non-controlling sharcholders may be initially measured at
the date of the original business combination either at fair value or at the non-controling interests’
proportionate share of fair value of the acquirce’s identifiable net assets. The choice measurement
basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Subsequent to acquisiton, the carrying amount of
non-controlling interests is the amoumt of those interests at injtial recognition plus the non-controlling
interests’ share of subsequent change in equity. Total comprehensive income is atiributed to non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.
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Changes i the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-conirolling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recoguised directly in equity and atiributed to owners of the Company.

‘When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (if) the previous carrying amount of the assets (incliding goodwiil), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassificd to profit or loss
or transferred directly to accumulated profits) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an Investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any
impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - The acquisition of subsidiaries from a common shareholder is
accounted for using the merger accounting method. Under this method, the Company has been
treated as the holding company of the subsidiaries for the financial years presented rather than from
the date of acquisition of the snbsidiaries.

The acquisition of subsidiaries from a party other than a common shareholder is accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
acquisition date fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree, and equity interesis issued by the Group in exchange for conmtrol of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a
cottingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair vatue. Subsequent changes
in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement
. period adjustments (see below). The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates in accordance with FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, or
FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the
correspanding gain or loss being recognised in profit or ioss.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held interests in the
acquired entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains
control} and the resuiting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquires prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recogmised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if
that interest were disposed of.
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The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under the FRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

»  deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 19 Employee
Benefits vespectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-
based payment awards are measured in accordance with FRS 102 Share-based Payment; and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see
below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recoguised as of that date,

The measurement peried is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains
complete information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is
subject to a maximum of one year from acquisition date.

The accounting policy for initial measurement of non-controlling interests is described above.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractal provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets

Investments are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an
investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs
except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially
measured at fair value.

Other financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: “financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss”, “available-for-sale” financial assets and “loans and receivables”. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition.




Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument
and of aliocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective inferest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrament, or where appropriate, a
shorter period. Income and expense are recogmised on an effective interest rate basis for debt
instruments other than those financial instruments “at fair value through profit or loss”.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Finarcial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held-for-trading or it is
designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:
» it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

¢  itis a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual patiern of short-term profit-taking; or

¢ Itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The net

gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are not classified into
any of the other categories. Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less
impairment loss.

Yoans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market are classified as “loans and receivables™. Loans and receivables are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised
by applying the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of
interest is immaterial.
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Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of
mmpairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a resuit of one or more events that occarred after the imitial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted,

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial
asseis with the exception of trade and other receivables where the carrying amount is redaced through
the use of an allowance account. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss.

With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of
the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recoguised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment pot been
recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an
mmpairment loss, is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Growp recognises its retained
mterest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial assct, the Group
continues (o recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collaterialised borrowing for the
proceeds received.
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Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered info and the definitions of a financial Liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its labilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
fssue.costs.

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of tramsaction costs, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense
recognised on an effective yield basis.

Interest-bearing bank loans are initially measured at fair value, and are subseguently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the settiement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the
borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see below).
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and subsequently at the
higher of the amount of obligation under the contract recognised as a provision in accordance with FRS
37 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less
cumulative amortisation in accordance with FRS 18 - Revenue.

- Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability component and an
equity component. The components of compound instruments are classified separately as financial
liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At the date of
issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a
similar nop-convertible insirument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis
until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. The equity component is
determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity reserve, net of income tax effects, and
is not subsequently remeasured.
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Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host confracts are treated as separate
derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and
the host contracts are not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

An embedded derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining
maturity of the hybrid instrument to which the embedded derivative relates is more than 12 months
and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other embedded derivatives are
presented as current assets or current fiabilities.

LEASES - Leases are classified as fimance leases whepmever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially ali the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on 2 straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use
benefit derived from the leased asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in megotiating and
arranging an operating lease are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term on the same
basis as the leased income,

The Group as lesses

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
‘of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arlsmg under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

PROPERTIES FOR DEVELOPMENT - Properties for development are mainly vacant leasehold land
for future development or land where management is in the process of obtaining permits prior to the
commencement of physical construction aud sale in the normal course of business. They are stated at
cost less allowance for any impairment in valie.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE - Properties under development for sale are
stated at lower of cost or estimated net realisable value. Net realisable value takes into account the price
ultimately expected to be realised and the anticipated costs to completion. Cost of property under
development comprises land cost, development costs and borrowing costs capitalised during the
development period. When completed, the units held for sale are classified as completed properties for
sale.
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COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE - Completed properties for sale are stated at lower of cost or
net realisable value. Cost is determined by apportionment of the total land cost, development costs and
borrowing costs capitalised to the unsold properties with such apportionment based on floor area. Net
realisable valne is determined by reference to sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of
business less all estimated selling expenses; or estimated by management in the absence of comparable
transactions taking into consideration prevailing market conditions.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accnrmuated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Constructicn-in-progress consists of construction costs and borrowing costs incusred during the period
of construction, .

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment, other than
comstruction-in-progress, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, substantially
on the following bases:

Leasehold land and buildings - 2% t0 5%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment - 20%
Motor vehicles - 10% to 25%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment still in use are retained in the financial statements.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirernent of a property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
the profit or loss.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - Investment properties are properties held to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation and properties under construction for such purposes. They are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs and subsequent to initial recognition, measured af fair value. The
fair value of an investment property is the price at which the property could be exchanged between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Professional valuations are cbtained at
least once in three years. Gains or losses axising from changes in the fair value of investment property
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise. Where there is an inability to determine
fair value reliably when comparable market rrangactions are infrequent and alternative reliable estimates
of fair value are not available, the investment property is measured at cost.

GOODWILL - Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that
confrol is acquired {the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair valoe
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
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If, after reassessment, the Group’s imterest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controfling imterest in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

 Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to
benefit from the sypergics of the combination. Cash-generating units o which goodwill has been
allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the
unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying acount of any goodwill allocated
to the wnit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. An impairment loss recogrised for goodwill is mot reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

INTANGIBILE ASSET - This relates to a club membership beld on a long-term basis and is stated at
cost less any impairment loss.

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - At the
end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets other than investment properties carried at fair value, to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to detexmine the extent of the impairment oss (if any). Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amoont of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value wsing a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where ap impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable anount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

ASSOCIATES - An associate i3 an entity ever which the Group has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to parlicipate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not conirol or joint comtrol over
- those policies.
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The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the
Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual
investinents. FLosses of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate are not
recognised. :

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recogunised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is
assessed for impairment as part of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES - A jointly controlled entity is a contractual
arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to
joint control, that is when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating to the
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer
has an interest are referred io as jointty controlled entities. The results, assets and liabilities of the
joinily controlled entities are incorporated in these financjal staterments using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, investments in the jointly controlled entities are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the
Group’s share of the net assets of the jointly controiled entities, less any impairment in the vaiue of
individual investments,

Where the Group transacts with its jointly comtrolled entities, unrealised profits and losses are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled eniities.

PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to seftle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncerizinties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

‘When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - The Group issues equity-setiled share-based payments to certain
employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value of the equity instruments (excluding
the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-setiled share-based iransactions are set out in Note 35. The
fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises the estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised over the remaining vesting period with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled
employee benefits reserve.

MERGER DEFICIT -~ Merger deficit arises from combination of entities under common control
accounted for using merper accounting method (see “Business Combinations™). The merger reserve
represents the difference between the aggregate nominal amounts of the share capital of the
subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by the Group and the nominal amount of the
share capital issued by the Company as consideration for the acquisition.

STATUTORY RESERVE - Statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from profit after tax
of the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) in accordance with the PRC
requirement. The statutory reserve cannot be reduced except where approval is obizined from the
relevant PRC authority to apply the amount towards setting off any accumulated losses or increasing
capital,

OTHER RESERVE - The negative balance in other reserve represents the net excess of purchase
consideration over the carrying amouat of non-controlling interests acquired in the subsidiaries at the
date of acquisition.

REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable,

Sale of properties developed

Revenue from properties developed for sale is recognised when the legal title passes to the buyer or
when the equitable inferest in the property vests in the buyer upon release of the handover notice of
the respective property to the buyer, whichever is the earlier. Payments received from buyers prior to
this stage are recoided as advances from buyers for sales of properties and are classified as current
Habilities.
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Rendering of services

Management fee income and service income are recognised over the period when services are
rendered.

Interest income
Inierest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the

effective interest rate applicable.

Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment
have been established.

Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
Televant lease.

TAX SUBSIDIES - Tax subsidies are credited to profit or loss when received from the relevant
authorities.

GOVERNMENT SUBSIDIES - Government subsidies are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Company will comply with the conditions atiaching to them and the subsidies will
be received. Govermment subsidies are recogmnised as income over the periods necessary to match
them with the related costs. Government subsidies related to expense items are recognised in the
same period as those expenses are charged to the profit or loss and are reported separately as "other
operating income".

BORROWING COSTS - Bormowing costs direcily attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of these assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended wse or sale. Investment income earned on the
teraporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on quahfymg assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are ircurred.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined comiribution retirement benefit plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered the services entitfing them to the contributions.
Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident
Fund, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under
the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group
(“PRC Subsidiaries”) have participated in central pension schemes (“the Schemes™) operated by local
municipal governments whereby the PRC Subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of the basic salaries of their employees to the Schemes to fund their retirement benefits. The local
municipal governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and
future retired employees of the PRC Subsidiaries. The only obligation of the PRC Subsidiaries with
respect to the Schemes is to pay the ongoing required contributions under the Schemes mentioned
above. Contributions under the Schemes are charged as expense when incurred,

EMPLGYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents ihe sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payabie is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the consolidated income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible.
The Group’s hability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (znd tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in 2 transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable famure.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
ailow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Deferred tax is calculated at tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
seitled or the asset realised based on the tax rates {and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable xight to set off current
tax asseis against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they
relate to items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or
directly in eguity), in which case the tax is also recognised ontside profit or loss (either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity), or where they arise from the initial accounting for a
business combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in
calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liahilities and contingent Habilities over cost.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial
statements of each Group entity are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The functional currency of the
Company is Singapore dollars. The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement
of financial position of the Company are presented in RMB, which is the presentation currency for the
consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial staterments of the individoal entities, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the
transaction. At the end of each teporting period, monetary jtems denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair vaiue was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

“Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary
items are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retransiation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retrapslation of ron-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the entities
in the Group which do not have RMB as the functional currency (including comparatives) are
expressed in RMB using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange raies flactuaied significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as other
comprehensive income and transferred to the Group’s currency translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of an operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of that operation and translated at the closing rate.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS -~ Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2 above,
management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and nnderlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The following are the critical judgemelits, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that
management has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements,

Taxation

The Group accounts for income taxes under the provisions of FRS 12 - Income Taxes. The Group
has recorded deferred tax assets on iax Joss of RMB3356 million (2009 : RMB206 miilion) because the
management believes it is more likely than not that such tax loss can be utilised (Note 15). Should
future taxable profits not be sufficient to utilise the tax losses, an adjustment to the Group’s deferred
tax assets would decrease the Group’s income in the period where such determination is made.
Likewise, if the management determines that the Group is able to utilise all or part of the Group’s iax
loss of RMB135% million (2009 : RMB156 million), which is currently not expected fo be utilised in
the future, it would result in future recognition of additional deferred tax assets and increase the
Group’s income in the period where such determination is made. The Group records deferred tax
using the balance sheet liability method at the rates that have been enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT™

All income from sale of properties in the PRC is subject to LAT at progressive rates under the PRC
tax laws and regulations. The management estimates and provides for LAT in accordance with the
PRC tax laws and regulations. However, prior to October 1, 2006, the Group has not been levied
any LAT for the sale of properties located in Shanghai Pudong New District and this applies also to
all property development companies in Shanghai Pudong New District.

The management, after taking into consideration its due diligence, as described in Note 29, considers
the provision of LAT to be adequate.
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Key sources of estimation nncertainty

There are key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation unceriainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a sigaificant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying arounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial vear, are discussed below.

Carrying amounts of properties for development, completed properties for sale and properties under
development for sale

The aggregate carrying amount of these properties totaled RMB31.013 billion as at December 31, 2010
(2005 : RMB20.806 billion), details of which are disclosed in Note 9. They are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment in value or at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable vales, assessed
on an individual project basis.

When it is probable that the total project costs will exceed the total projected revenue net of selling
expenses, i.e. net realisable value, the amount in excess of net realisable value is recognised as an
expense immediately.

The process of evaluating the net realisable value for each property is subject (0 management’s
judgement and the effect of assumptions in respect of development plans, timing of sale and the
prevailing market conditions. Management performs cost studies for each project, taking into account
the costs incurred to date, the development status and costs to complete each development project. Any
firture variation in plans, assumptions and estimates can potentially impact the carrying amounts of the
respective properties.

Valuation of investment properties

As disclosed in Note 8, investment properties are stated at fair value based on the vatuation performed

by an independent professional valuer. In determining the fair values, the valuer has made reference o

both the comparable sales tramsactions as available in the relevant market of these properties and the

capitalisation of the existing and reversionary rental income potential.

In relying on the independent professional valuation report, management considered the method of

valuation and the Group’s marketing strategy and is of the view that the estimated values are reasonable.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Caregories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

GROUP COMPANY
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000 -RMB*000 RMB’000
Financial assets
Fair value through profit or loss:
Held-for-trading investment 0,286 8,741 - -

Loans and receivahles
(including cash and
cash equivalents) 6,857,196 7,498,853 10,844,324 8,595,746
Available-for-sale investment 49,348 49,348 - -
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GROUP

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial Habilities
Fair value through profit or Ioss:
Derivative financial
instrument 11,955 34,392
Amortised cost 16,018.308 9.254,058

Financial risk management policies and objectives

COMPANY

2010 2000
RMB’000 RMB’000
11,955 34,392
6278243 3,736,239

The management of the Group monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the
operations of the Group to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and
effective manner, These risks include market risk (foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk,

equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in
which it manages and measures the risks. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity

analysis indicated below.

(i) Foreign exchange risk management

The Group enters into transactions in varicus foreign currencies, including the United
States (“US"} dollar, Hong Kong (“HK™)} dollar and Renminbi (“RMB”) and therefore is
exposed to foreign exchange risk. The Group does not enter imo derivative foreign
‘exchange contracts and foreign currency borrowings to hedge its foreign exchange risk.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary
“liabilities denominated in currencies other than the respective entities’ faunctional

currencies are as follows:

GROUP COMPANY
Liahilitieg Assets Liabilities Assets
2010 009 2000 2009 2010 2009 2000 2000
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMRB'OGD RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBWOID  RMD'OOD
US dollars 1,969,385 - 853,671 78,070 1,960,385 - 8,539,900 5,559,024
HE dollars 2,654,798 659,319 468,630 20,462 1,851,855 482,820 938,451 499,605
RMB - = _81.675 77.528 - = - =
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Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table details the sensitivity to a 3% increase in the exchange rate of the
functional currency of each entity of the Group against the relevant foreipn
currencies. 3% is the semsitivity rate used by key management personnel in assessing
foreign currency risk and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity amalysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a
3% change in foreign currency rates. A positive mummber below indicates an increase in
profit before income tax when the functional currency of each Group entity strengthens
by 3% against the relevant foreign currencies. For a 3% weakening of the functional
currency of each Group entity against the relevant foreign currencies, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit before income tax.

US dollar impact HE dollar impact RMB impact
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
VB0 RMBO00 RMB'(00 RMB'000 RMB'O00RMEB’000
GROUP
Increase (decrease) in

profit before income tax 32,497 (2,274 63,675 18,608 2.379) (2,258)

COMPANY

Increase (decrease) in

loss before income tax  191.374 161,913  (26.604) 489 - -

The Group’s sensitivity to US doliar exchange rate has increased during the current year
due to the the issvance of US$300 million senior notes due 2017 on May 4, 2010 and
the increase in US dollar denominated in cash and bank balances at current year end as
compared with the preceding year end. The Group’s sensitivity to HK dollar exchange
rate has increased during the current year due to the increase in HK dollar denominated
bank loans at current year end as compared with the preceding year end. The Group’s
sensitivity to RMB exchange rate during the current year approximates that of the
preceding year as there is mo significant change in RMB denominated monetary
balances at current year end as compared with the preceding year end.

The Company’s sensitivity t0 US dollar exchange rale has increased during the current
year mainly due to the issnance of US$300 million senior notes due 2017 and the
increase in US dollar denominated non-trade amount due from a subsidiary at current
year end as compared with the preceding year end. The Company’s sensitivity to HK
doliar exchange raie has increased during the current year mainly due to the increase in
HK dollar denominated net liabilities at current year end as compared wilh the HK
dollar denominated net assets at the preceding year end.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.
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(i)

(i)

Interest rate risk management

Summary quantifative data of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instraments can be
found in Section (v) of this Note. The Group’s policy is to obtain fixed rate borrowings
to reduce volatility. However, it may borrow at variable rates when considered
economical to do so,

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure fo interest
rates for non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated
change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout
the reporting year in the case of instruments that have floating rates. A 100 basis point

" increase or decrease is-used when assessing interest rate risk and represents the

management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates.

If interest raies had been 100 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s:

. profit before imcome tax for the year ended December 31, 2010 would
decrease/increase respectively by RMBE6 million (2009 : decreasefincrease
respectively by RMB37 million). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure 1o its variable rate of borrowings.

. It is the Group’s accounting policy to capitalise borrowing costs relevant to
property development. Hence, the above mentioned interest rate fluctuation may
not fully impact the profit in the year where interest expense is incurred and
capitalised but may affect profit in future financial years.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the current year mainly
due to the increase in variable rate debt instruments.

In 2010 and 2009, the management is of the view that there is no imterest rate risk for

the Company as all borrowings are at fixed rates. Hence, no sensitivity analysis is
presented for the Company.

Equity price risk management

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from equity investment classified as
held-for-trading. Awvailable-for-sale investment is held for strategic rather than trading
purposes. The Group does not actively trade available-for-sale investment.

Furtber details of equity investments can be found in Notes 13 and 18 to the financial
statements.

The management is of the view that the equity price risk is not significant for the Group
due to the relatively small amount of such investments carried. Ilence no price
sensitivity analysis is presented.
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Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted 2 policy of
only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. For sales
of properties, sales proceeds are fully settled concurrent with delivery of properties.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty
or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics except for non-trade
amounts due from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries. Part of the amounts due
from non-controlling interests are covered by undistributed retained earnings of the
subsidiary yet to be distributed as dividends and future earnings that are expected to be
distributed by the subsidiary to the non-controlling shareholders (Note 17). Information
on credit risk relating to other receivables are disclosed in Noie 16. The credit risk an
cash and cash equivalents is limited bhecause the counterparties are banks with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk comprise (i) the sum of the carrying
amounts of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for any
allowances for losses; and (ii) credit risk relating to guarantees of approximately
RMB1.857 billion (2009 : RMB2.038 billion) to banks for the benefit of the Group’s
customers in respect of mortgage loans provided by the banks to these customers for the
purchase of the Group’s development properties, as elaborated in Note 38 to the
financial statements., -

Liquidity risk management

The Group maintains cash and cash equivalents, obtains exiernal bank loans and issues
convertible notes amd senior notes with staggered repayment dates. The Group also
minimises liguidity risk by keeping committed credit lines available, At December 31,
2010, the Group had available RMBS.782 billion (2009 : RMB4.085 billion) of
undrawn commitied bask credit facilities in respect of which all precedent conditions
had been met.

In managing liquidity risk, the management prepares cash flow forecasts using various
assumptions and monitors the cash flows of the Group.
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Liquidity and interest risk analyses

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The following tables detail the remaining comfractval maturity for non-derivative
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date or which the Group and Company
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. The
adjustment coluran represents the estimated future interest attributable to the instrument
included in the maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying amount of the
financial liabilities on the staterment of financial position.

Weighted On
effective demand More than  More than
average  or wilhin lyearwo 2yearsto  More than
inlerest raie 1 year 2 years S yeqrs 5 years  Adjustments Total
% RMRB'000 RMB'000 RMBOM) RMBO00 RMBO0 RMB"000

GRAOUPE
2010
Non-interest bearing 3,509,649 - - - - 3,509,649
Variable interest

rate instruments 3l 2,041,939 4,579,706 2,612,384 202,602 (D66,618) 8,960,013
Fixed inferest rate

instruments 10.4 263,339 120,667 1,905263 1,986,808 (327.43D 3,948,646
Total 5814997 4700373 4.517.647 2279410 (L.204.040) 16,018,308
2089
Mon-interest bearing 2,090,729 - - - - 2,090,729
Viriable interest

rate instrements 5.1 1,272,192 667,261 1,911,947 200,412 (401,853) 3,638,959
Fixed interest rate

instrumenis 9.4 1,659,000 219,128 1,925.404 - 09,252 3,504,370
Total 2022011 _BR6.3R89 3.837.351 _ 200412 (70LI105) _9.254.058

The maximum amount that the Group could be obliged to settle under the financiat
guarantee confracts related to bank Ioans of boyers is RMB1.857 billion
(2009 : RMB2.038 billion) (Note 38). The earliest period that the guarantzes counld be
called is within 1 year (2009 : 1 year) from the end of the reporting period, As
mentioned in Note 38, the management considers that the likelihood of these guarantees
being called upon is low.

Weighted Cn
effective demand More than  More than
average or within fyearto 2yearsto More than
interest rate 1 year 2 vears 5 vyears 5 years  Adjustmenis Total
4 RMBOOG RMB'(00 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
COMPANY
2010
Mon-interest bearing 2,578,265 - - . - 2,578,265
Fixed interest rate
instruments 10.7 - 120,667 1.905,263 1,986,808 {312,760) 3,699,978
Total 2338265 120667 1905263 LOBGE0E  (UZTED) 6278243
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Weighted On

effective demand More than  More than
average or within lyearte  2yearsio More than
interest rate 1 yesr 2 years 3 years 3 years  Adjustmenis Total
% RMPB’000 RMDB000 RMB’000 RMB00C RMB'00D RMB"(X} ,
COMPANY .
2009
Non-inlerest bearing 560,537 - - - - 560,537
Fixed interest rate
instraments 9.7 1,518,595 - 1,925,404 - (208,297} 3,175,702
Total 2,079,132 - 1925404 .- (268207  3.736.239

Non-derivative financial assets

The following tables detail the expected maturity for non-derivative financial
assets. The tables below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual
maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets
except where the Group and the Company anticipate that the cash flows will occur in a

different period.
Weighted On
effective demand More than .
average or within 1 year to More than E
interest rate 1 year § vears 5 years  Adjustments Total '
% RMB’000 RMB'O00 RMB'G00 RMB’00C RMB'00D i
GROUP
2010
Non-interest bearing 4,644,986 - 49,348 - 4,684,334
Variable interest
rate instruments 5.3 83,493 - - {4,202) 79,291
Fixed interest rare :
instruments 1.3 2,169,122 - - (26,917 2,142,205 i
Total 689601 - 4938 (LUY 691550 :
2009
Non-interest bearing 5,252,023 - 49,348 - 5,301,371
Variable interest
rate instruments 5.4 79,201 - - (4,062) 75,229
Fixed interest rate
instruments 0.8 2,198,119 - - 16,717y 2,181,342
Total 7,529.433 - 49348  (20,830)  7.557.942

In 2010 and 2009, the Company’s non-derivative financial assets are substantially non-
interest bearing with expected maturity within a year.
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(vi)  Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables
and payables approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term
maturity of these financial instruments. The fair values of other classes of financial
assets and liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial statements.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

s  the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid wparkets are determined with reference to
quoied market prices;

° the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative
instruments) are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current
market transactions and dealer quoted for similar instruments; and

s the fair value of derivative instruments are calenlated using quoted prices. Where
such prices are not available, discounted cash flow analysis is used, based on the
applicable yield curve of the duration of the insiruments for non-optional
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional derivatives.

. The management considers that carrying values approximate the fair values of other
classes of financial assets and Iiabilities except for the convertible notes stated at
amortised cost In respect of which fair value is disclosed in Note 22,

Except as detailed in the following table and in Note 13, management considers that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial Habilities recorded at amortised cost
in the financial statements approximate their fair values:

2010 2009 '
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair :
amount value amount value

s ey

RMB 000 RMB’000 RME’000 RMB’000

GROUP AND COMPANY
Financial Liabilities
Converiible notes 1,772,433 1,938 584 3.210.094 3.179.079




The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that refiects
the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value
hierarchy has the following levels:

a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for idenfical assets or liabilities
{Level 1);

b)  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices) (Level 2); and

¢) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data )
{unobservable inputs) (Level 3). :

Financial instruments measured at fair valuie

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
GROUP

2010

Financial Asset
Fair value through profit
or loss:
Held-for-trading
investment 9.286 - - 9,286

Financial Liability
Fair value through profit
or loss:
Derivative financial
instrument - - 11.955 11,955

2009

Financial Asset
Fair value through profit
or loss:
Held-for-trading
nvestment 9.741 - - 9.741

Financizl Liability
Fair value through profit
or loss:
Derivative financial
instrument - - 34,392 34.392
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RMB’000 RMB*000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COMPANY
2010
‘Financial Liability
Fair value through profit
or loss:
Derivative financial

instrument - - 11,955 11.955
2009
Financial Liability
Fair value through profit
or loss:

Derivative financial

instrument - - 34,392 34392

Financial instruments measured at fair value based on level 3
Other financial liability
at fair value through
profit or loss Total
RMB’000 RMRB’000

GROUP AND COMPANY
2010
At Japuary 1, 2010 {34,392) (34,392)
Total gains or losses in profit or loss (Note 27) 23,410 23,410
Total gains or losses in other comprehensive income {973) 97D
At Decerober 31, 2010 11.955 11,955)
2009
At January 1, 2009 - -
Issnance of convertible notes due 2014 (34,392) (34,392)
At December 31, 2000 (34.392) (34,392)
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Significant assumptions in determining fair value of financial assets and Habilities

Derivative financial instruments

Fair value is estimated using a Binominal Model that consists of some assumptions that
are supportable by observable market rates, which includes risk free rate of 0.95%
(2009 : 1.14%); volatility rate of 64.32% (2009 : 14.58%) and expected dividend yield
rate of Nil% (2009 : Nil%). The interest rate used to discount cash flows was 8.94%
(2009: 10.93%), which was derived from Factors such as risk free rate and credit spread
of comparable companies with similar credit ratings and bonds” maturity.

(c) Capital risk management policies and objectives

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance.

'The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt to equity ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt less cash and bank balances divided by equity. Total debt include bank loans,
convertible notes, senior notes and non-trade amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary. Equity for this purpose comprises equity aitributable to eguity holders of the :
Company as well as non-controiling interests as shown in the consolidated statement of financial i
position, '

The net debt 10 equity ratio as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB'000  RMB'000
Total debt 12,508,659 7,163,329
Cash and bank balances (5814.453)  (6.552.697)
Net debt 6.604206 . 610.632
Bauity 19.830.38¢  15.404.135
Net debt to equity ratio 33.8% 4.0%

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2009. In addition, the Group also
specifically monitors the financial ratios of its debt covenants stated in the agreements in respect
of senior notes issued by the Company and borrowings with the financial institutions providing
the facilities to the Group. The Group is in compliance with externally imposed capital
requirements for the financial years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.
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HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS

The Company is a subsidiary of Yanlord Holdings Pte. Lid., incorperated in the Republic of
Singapore, which is also the Company’s ultimate holding company. Related companies in these
financial statements refer to members of the Company’s group of companies,

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related companies of the Company,
have been climinated on comsolidation and are not disclosed in this note. The intercompany balances
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

The Company’s non-trade amounts due from snbsidiaries that are not substantially denominated in the
functional currency of the Company are as follows:

COMPANY
2010 2009
RMB'000  RMB'000
US dollars 8,534,378 5,558,943
HK dollars 936,680 499 322

The Company's nop-trade amount due to a subsidiary that is not denominated in the functional
currency of the Compaay is as follows:

COMPANY
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000

HK doliars 1.851.855 482.820

OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are entities with common direct or indirect shareholders and/or directors. Parties are
considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.

Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on
the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances with
related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

The Group’s and Company’s balances with related parties are substantially denominated in the
functional currencies of the respeciive entities.
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During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related parties:

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’*000

Sale of properties to a related party (8,373 (11,784)
Sale of property, plant and equipment to a related party (480) -

Interest income from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries {5,935) {7,053)
Interest income from an associate {8,153) -

Other income from a jointly controlled entity {1,626) {164)
Interest expense to a shareholder - 122
Tnterest expenses to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries 15,999 21,698
Rental expense to a non-confrolling shareholder of a subsidiary 548 516
Rental expenses to related parties 8,506 6,346
Consultancy fee to a non-controiling shareholder of a subsidiary 630 4,190

Compensation of directors and key inanagement personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Short-term benefits 57,568 44,049
Post-employment benefits 783 702 5
38,351 44,751 !

7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold Furniture, i
Jand and Mator fixwures and  Construction- 5
_buildings vehicles _equipment in-progress Totat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB*000 RME'000
GROUP
Cost:
At January 1, 2009 131,672 55,614 74,776 5,000 267,062
Additions - 6,210 5,044 - 11,254
Cost adjustment (3,274) - - - (3,274)
Disposals - {6,092) (2,850) - (8,942)
Exchange difference - (] - - (2)
At December 31, 2009 128,398 55,730 76,970 5,000 266,098
Additions 25,668 16,634 16,742 - 50,044
Transfer from properties under
development for sale 14,152 - - - 14,152
transfer from propertics
for development - - - 54,187 54,787
Disposals 47 (5,496) (2,816) - (8,791)
Exchange difference - (15} {8 - {23)
At December 31, 2010 167,739 66,853 90,888 59,787 385,267
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Leasehold Furniture,

Iand and Motor fixtures and Construction- .
buildinps vehicles equipment in-progress Total B
RMB*000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB"000 RMB'000
Accumulated depreciation:
At January 1, 2009 14,375 29,937 31,264 - 75,606
Depreciation for the year 3,742 7,71 11,312 - 22,825
Eliminated on disposals - {5,127) (2,519 - .
At December 31, 2000 18,117 32,581 40,087 - 90,785
Depreciation for the year 4,345 8,167 11,291 - 27,803
Bliminated on disposals (117} {4,498) (2,516) - (7,131)
Exchange difference - a2 (& - {18)
At December 31, 2010 26,345 36,238 48.856 - 111,439
GROUP
Carrying amount:
At end of year 141,394 30,515 42,052 39.787 273.82
At beginning of year 110.281 23,149 36.883 5,000 175.313

- The carrying amount of construction-in-progress pledged to banks to secure bank loans is disclosed in
Note 21.

8 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
At fair value or cost:

Balance as at beginning of year 3,222,995 1.641,000 i
Additions 714,204 - i
Transfer from properties under development for sale 900,619 1,028,882

Change in fair value (Note 27) 906,296 562,116

Disposals (45,466) {9.,003)

Balance as at end of year 5.698.645 3.222.995

Comprising of:
Fair value 5,698,645 3,006,500
Cost - 216,495
5.698.645 3,222,995

The fair value of investment properties is stated at the valuation provided by an independent valuer,
CB Richard Ellis Limited Hong Kong, for investment properties as at December 31, 2010 and 2009
by making reference to both the comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant market of
these properties and the capitalisation of the existing and reversionary rental income potential.
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As at December 31, 2009, a serviced apartment building under construction was stated at cost as it
could not be reliably valued due to the early stage of comstruction as at the end of the reporting
period. The serviced apartment building was cormpleted and recorded at fair value as at December 31,
2010.

The carrying amounts of investment properties pledged to banks to secure the bank loans granted o
the Group are disclosed in Note 21.

The rental income earned by the Group from its investmeni properties under operating leases
amounted t0 RMB103 million (2009 : RMB32 million). Direct operating expenses arising on the
- investment properties in the year amounted to RMBI million (2009 : RMB0.405 million).

PROPERTIES FOR DEVELOPMENT/COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE/
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
At cost:
Properties for development (Non-current assets) 15,973,484 9,448 915
Compieted properties for sale (Current assets) 875,702 1,160,318
Properties under development for sale (Current assets) 14,163,933 10,196,862

31,013,119 20,806,095

Properties for development, completed properties for sale and properties under development for sale
are located in the PRC.

Up to the end of the reporting period, total interest capitalised are as follows:

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Properties for development 303,568 169,865
Completed properties for sale 30,800 31,985
Properties under development for sale 659,753 356,582

The interest rates are as disclosed in Notes 21, 22 and 23,

The carrying amounts of properties pledged to banks to secure bank loans are disclosed in Noie 21.
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

COMPANY
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB*000
Unquoted equity shares, at cost ' 2,618,181  2.488.269
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:
Couniry of Proportion of
incorporation ownership
{or registration) interest and
Name of subsidiary and operation voting power held Principal activity
' 2010 2009
% %
Held by the Company
Yanlord Commerciat Properly Singapore 100 100  Investment holding
Investments Pte, Lid, @
LRI R RA S
Yanlord Land Pte. Ltd. @ Singapore 100 100  Investment holding
- ERBEHRAT
Held by the Company
Yanlord Land (HX) Co., Ltd. ® Hong Xong 100 100  Investment hoiding
b= (R RA R
Held by Yanlord Land Pte. Lid.
and its subsidiaries
Palovale Pte Ltd @ Singapore 67 67 Investment holding
RARFFRAT
Yantord Ho Bee Investments Singapore 50 50  Iovestment holding
Pte. Lid, ©®@
CHENERBERIRAT
Yanlord Property Investments Singapore - 160  Investment holding
Pte. Lid, @®
IERF-BEERAT
Yanlord Praperty Pte. Lid. ® Singapore 60 40 Investment holding
ZIEPHRAR
Yanlord Real Estate Pie. Lid. @ Singapore 95 95 Investment holding
BN R RE R AR
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Country of Proportion of

incorporation ownership
(or registration) interest and
Name of subsidiary and operation yoting power held Principal activity
2010 2009
% %
Held by Yanlord Land Pte. Lid.
and its subsidiaries
East Hero Investment Ltd, ® Hong Kong 100 100  Investment holding
RFREHRAR
Singapore Yanlord Land (HK) Hong Kong 100 100  Management service
Lid ®
T fE R (A TR AE
Chengdu Bverrising Asset PRC 51 51 Property development
Management Co., Ltd. @ and investment
B RS
FIFRAR
Chengdu Yanlord Investment PRC 100 100 Management service
Management Co., Ltd. @ and investment
A ER T EEFRAT
Chengdu Yantord Property PRC 100 100 Property management
Management Ca., Ld, @
AR B S B R AR
Yanlord Laod (Chengdu) Co., Ltd. ® PRC 100 100  Property development
CERMEE)ERAT
‘Yanlord Real Bstate (Chengdu) Co., PRC 70 - Property development
Lid, @ ® and management
AT R ()RR A
Guiyang Yanlord PRC 67 67 Property development

Property Co., Lid. @
HBIR{CEBTE TR ERAR

Guiyang Yanlord Property PRC 67 67 Property management
Management Co., Ltd, ®

BRCENLEEFRAT

Nanjing Yanlord Garden PRC 100 - Landscaping and gardening
Co., Lid. 3 {6} ’

MR ERRGRAT
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Name of subsidiary

Couniry of
incorporation
{or registration)
and operation

Proportion of
ownership
interest and

voting power held

Principal activity

Held by Yanlord Land Pte. Ltd.
and its subsidiaries

Nanjing Yanlord Hotel Management
Co., Itd. ®
ERCEEEEEARAT

Nanjing Yanlord Property
Management Co., Ltd. ®
BRI ELEEERA

Nanjing Yanlord Real Estate
Co., Lig. ®
BRERARAS

Yanlord Investment
(Nanjing) Co., Lid. ®
AR EHYFRAD

Shenzhen Long Wei Xin Investment
Co., Ltd. ™
BT RS R R LY ERAT

Yanltord Land (Shenzhen) Co., Lid, ®
AR B eI TR A

Shanghai Hong Ming Ge
Food & Beverage Service
Management Co., Lid. ®

FiRE 2 BERRS TR RAR

Shanghai Pudong New District
Private Yanlord Kindergarten ¢ ®
EWANARS R RAMCELILE

Shanghai Renjie Hebin
development

Garden Property Co., Lid. ©@®
R R = R A R

Shanghai Yaniord Gaogiao
Property Co., Lid. “4®
LR CERTFEREARAT

Shanghai Yanlord Honggino
Property Co., Ltd. @®
EETEIF BB RAR

PRC

PRC

PRC

PRC

PRC

PRC

PRC

PRC

PRC

PRC

PRC

54

2010
%

100

160

100

73

100

60

50

3l

50

60

2008
%

160

100

60

100

75

160

60

50

50

Hotel and serviced

apartment managerment

Property management

Property development

Property development

and investment

Property development

Management service

Restaurant operation

Kindergarten operation

51 Property

Properly development

Property development
and management




i
Tl

Country of Proportion of

incorporation ownership
(or registration} interest and
Name of subsidiary and operation voting power held Principal activity
2010 2009
% %
Held by Yanlord Land Pte. Lid.
and its subsidiaries
Shanghai Yanlord Investment PRC 100 100  Management service
Management Co., Ltd, #® and investment
T ERRERFIRAE
Shanghai Yanlord PRC 67 67 Property development
Property Co., Ltd, ©@®
EERCERMERAE
Shanghai Yantord Property PRC 67 67 Properiy management
Mapagement Co., Lrd. ®
LA EEFRAR
Shanghai Yanlord Real PRC 56 56 Property development
Estate Co., Lid, @ i
L EEVRRHRAR *
Shanghai Yanlord Senian PRC 60 60 Property development I
Real Estate Co., Ltd. @
L {iEgRE B HRAS
Shanghai Yanlord Xing Tang PRC 100 - Property development
Real Estate Co., Lid, @® and management
LHE CEMERLFRAR
Shanghai Yantord Yangpu PRC 100 100 Property development
Property Co., Lid. ® j
s EEEE AR AT
Shanghai Zhoogting Property PRC 100 100 Property development :
Development Co., Ltd. @®
LR EEM T R ERAE
Yantord Land Investment FRC 100 100 Management service
Management (Shanghai) Co,, Ltd. @
CHEBMGEEER - ERAE
Sanya Yanlord Real Estate Co., Ltd, @@ ® PRC 100 - Property development
WA EEWARAF and management _-
Suzhou Yieghan Property PRC 100 100  Property development ot

Development Co., Ltd, ™
BN E R EER AT
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Country of Proportion of

incorporation ownexship
{or registration) interest and
Name of subsidiary and operation voting power held Principal activity
2010 2009
% %
Held by Yantord Land Pte. Ltd.
and its subsidiaries
Suzhou Zhonghui Property PRC 100 100 Property development i
Development Co,, Lid, ®
M PG RERAR ‘
Yanlord Property (Suzhou) PRC 60 60 Property development
Co., Lud. @
{CIEH=GRADFE R AR
Yanlord Ho Bee Property PRC 50 - Property development
Development (Tangshan) and management
Co., Ltd, (& &
CEMEFLF R(FUBTRAF
Tianjin Yanlord Garden PRC 100 - Landscaping and
Co., Lid, @@ gardening
KA EEHA R A
Tianjin Yanlord Haihe PRC 80 80 Property development
Development Co., Lid. ®
R EETNFRERAT
Tianjin Yanlord Property PRC 100 100  Property management
Management Co., Ltd. ®
KAV RS T RAR
Yanlord Development PRC 100 100  Property development
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd. ®
CHEEECKERBRAT
Zhuhai Yantord Industrial PRC 95 95 Property development
Co., Lid. @
HECIHESIERAR
Zhuhai Yanlord Property PRC 90 90 Properly management

Management Co., Ltd, ®

B EVERGRAS

Zhuhai Yanlord Real Estate PRC 90 %0 Property development .
Development Co., Lid. ®
B - BB R A TRA R :

@+ Although the Group does mot effectively own more than 50% of the equity shares of these
entities, it has control over the financial and operating policies of these entities and hence
regards these entities as subsidiaries.
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@ The Group’s equity interest in the shareholding of this former subsidiary has reduced from
100% to 25% during the year and the investment has been reclassified as investment in an
associate (Note 11).

@ Incorporated during the year.

®  The proportior of ownership interest and voting power held by the Group is 50.2%.

@ Under an arrangement with the non-controlling shareholder of Shanghai Yanlord Property Co.,
L. (*SYP”), the non-controlling shareholder is not emtitled to share the results of the
following subsidiaries of SYP, Shanghai Yanlord Investment Management Co., Ltd., Sanya

Yanlord Real Estate Co., Ltd., Shanghai Zhongting Property Development Co., Ltd. and
Shanghai Renjie Hebin Garden Property Co., Lid..

Notes on anditors

®  Audited by Deloiite & Touche LLP, Singapore.

®  Audited by Deloitie Touche Tohmatsu, Shanghai for consolidation purposes.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

On May 26, 2010, the Group has through its subsidiary, Yanlord Land Pte. Lid. {“YLPL"), entered
into an investment agreement (“IA”™) with Reco Yizhong Private Limited (*Reco”) for Reco to own
YLPL's 75% shareholding interest in Yanloxd Property Investmemts Pte. Ltd. (“YPI") for a
consideration of RMB72 (equivalent to S$15), which approximates the fair value of YPI’s net assets.
Upon cormpletion, the Group’s beneficial interest in YPI held through YLPL is reduced to 25%.
Subsequent to the completion of the 1A, YLPL and Reco made further investment imto YPI
proportionate to their respective shareholding interest in 2010.

GROUP
2010
RMB’000

Cost of investiment in associate 2,441
Share of post-acquisition loss (2,441

Ameunt due from an associate (Current assets) 86
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Details of the Group’s associate are as follows:

Country of Proportion of
incorporation ownership
(or registration) interest and
Name of associate and operation voting power held Principal activity
2019 2009
% %
Yanlord Property Invesiments Singapore 25 - Invesiment holding
Pic. Lid. @
it R HARAE

Note on anditors

®  Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

Surmnarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out as below:

GROUP
2010 y
RMB’000 ;
Total assets 74
Total liabilities 141
Net liabilities (67
Group’s share of associate’s net liabilities © -
Loss for the year (11.464)
Group’s share of associate’s loss for the year 2,441

@' The Group’s share of the associate’s net liabilities is zero as the Group discontinues recognising
further losses when the Group’s share of loss of the associate exceeds its interest in the associate.

12 INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’0Q0 RMB’000
Cast of investments in joinfly controlled entities 196,104 137,617
Share of post-acquisition loss (1,457) (774) L
194,647 136,843 b
Amount due from jointly controlled entities (Current assets) - ' 120
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Details of the Group’s jointly controlled entities are as follows:

Country of Proportion of
incorperation ownership
(or registration) interest and voting
Name of jointly conirolled entity and operation voling power held Principal activity
2010 2009
% %

Held by Yanlord Land Pte. Eid.

Singapore Intelligent Eco Singapore 57 40 Investment holding
"Island Development Pte. Ltd, T

Brinp BBA LB FEARAR

Held by Singapore Intelligent Eco

Island Development Ple, Lid.,

Sino-Singapore Nanjing Eco PRC 28 20 Property development

Hi-tech Island Development

Co., Lid. ®

P EESHE ST RBRAR

Held by Sino-Singapore Nanjing
Eco Hi-tech Island Development
Co., Ltd. '
Sino-Singapore Nanjing Eco . PRC 28 - Property development

Hi-tech Island Investment and and investment

Development Co., Ltd, @®

TR R SN B R R A BAR A

@ In 2010, the Group acquired additional shares in the entity. Although the Group owns more
than 50% of the equity shares of this entity, both shareholders of this entity have joint control
over its financial and operating policies and hence the Group regards this entity as a jointly
controlled entity.

@ Incorporated during the year.

Notes on auditors

@ Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

®  Audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Shanghai for consolidation purposes. .
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Surnmarised financial information in respect of the jointly controlled entities is set out as below:

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB*000 RMB’000
Total assets 341,583 342,200
Total liabilities {97 (92)
Net assets 341.486 342,108
Group’s share of jointly controlled entities’ net assets 194,647 136.843
Loss for the year _ (1,198) (1,935}
Group’s share of jointly controlled entities’ loss for the year (683) (774}

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT
GROUP
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMRB’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 49,348 49348

The investment included above represents an investment in unquoted equity shares that presents the
Group with opportunity for return through dividend income and capital appreciation. The
management is of the view that the fair value of unquoted equity shares cannot be measured reliably
as the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant and the probabilities of the various
estimates cannot be reasonably assessed. Accordingly, this investment is stated at cost.

The available-for-sale investment is denominated in the functional currency of the respective entity.
The management has evaluated whether there is any indicator of impairment for unquoted equity

shares carried at cost, by considering both internal and external sources of information, and is
salisfied that there is no such indicator.

INTANGIBLE ASSET
GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Club membership 613 613

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the management assessed the marketable value of the club
membership and determined that it was in excess of its carrying amount.
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15 DEFERRED TAXATION

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’G00 RMB’000
Deferred tax assets 137,652 23,314
Deferred tax liabilities (797,490) 566,820
xR X il

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and
movements thereon during the current and prior reporting year.

Accelerated
tax depreciation
Revaluation and excess of
of investment tax deductible  Withholding
properties EXDRnses tax Tax losses Total
RMB0CD RMB’000 RMB’006 RMB*000 RMB*000
GROUP
At Janvary 1, 2009 (220,362) {281) - 26,915 (193,728)
{Charge) credit 10 income statement
for the year {Note 29) (146,187) 32,235 (200,341) 24,445 (289,848)
At December 31, 2009 {(366,549) 31,954 (200,341) 51,360 (483,576)
{Charge) credit to income statement
for the year (Note 29) (221,099) 16,738 (122,741) 37,600 (289,502)
Transfer to income tax payable - - 113.240 - 113.240
At December 31, 2010 (387.648) 48.692 {209,842) 88.260 (659.838)

Pursuant to PRC tax regulations, at the end of the reporting period, the Group has unntilised tax
losses of RMB515 million (2009 : RMB362 million) available for offset against future profits. A
deferred tax asset of RMB89 million (2009 : RMB51 million) has been recognised in respect of
RMB356 million (2009 : RMB206 million) of such losses at the PRC tax rate of 25%. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining RMB159 million (2009 : RMB156 million)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses may be carsied forward for 5 years i
from the year after the losses are incurred, subject to the conditions imposed by law including the :
retention of majority shareholders as defined. ;

16 OTHER RECEIVARLES AND DEPOSITS
GROUP COMPANY

2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB?G00 RMB'000  RMB000

Advances to suppliers 9.642 4,063 - -
Deposits for purchase of land for
development and construction

of properties 307,431 145,711 - -

Staff loans 11,935 12,801 - -
Prepayments 6,751 64,788 2,235 2

Sales tax prepayments 252,245 201,511 - -

g:terest reccivable(su 357 . 1,';22 - -

ther receivables 100,548 12.673 - -
628.010 343.269 7.235 — 37

®  TIncluded in other receivables is an advance of RMB20 million (2009 : RMB20 million) fo a
PRC government agent for the resettlement of occupants from land which the Group intends to
purchase.
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The management considers the credit risk on other receivables and deposits is limited because the
counterparties are government agents or third parties with long business relationships with the Gronp.

The other receivables and deposits are substantially denominated in the functional currencies of the
respective entities.

NON-TRADE AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Amounts due from non-comtrolfing shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecored, interest-free and
repayable on demand except for the following:

a)  An amount of RMB31 million (2009 : RMB26 million) which bears interest at 5.0% (2008 :
4.0%) per annum is secured by undistributed retained earnings of a subsidiary yet to be
distributed as dividends to the non-controlling shareholder of that subsidiary.

b}  Total amount of RMB79 million (2009 : RMB75 million) which bears interest at 5.3%
(2009 : 5.4%) per annum is secured by expected future earnings that will be distributed by a
subsidiary to the non-controlling shareholders of that subsidiary.

“Amounts due to pon-comtrolling shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand except for a non-current amount of RMB196 million at the end of 2009 which
bore inferest at 5.9% per annum and was repayable within 2 years; and a current amount of RMB249
million at the end of 2010 (2009 : RMB133 million) which bears interest at 5.9% per annun.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/to non-controlling sharcholders of subsidiaries
approximate their fair values due to the relatively short term maturity of interest-free balances or the
interest rates approximate the prevailing market rates.

Non-trade amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries are denominated in the
functional curreneies of the respective entities.

The non-trade amounts due from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries that are not denominated
in the functional currencies of the respective entities are as follows:

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB'000  RMB'000
US dollars 23,426 17,382
IIK dollars 10,080 9,934
RMB 81 675 77.528
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HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENT

Quoted equity security, at fair value

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
9.286 9.741

Held-for-trading investment presents the Group with opportunities for return through dividend income
and fair value gains. This investment has no fixed maturity or coupon rate. The fair value of this
security is based on the closing quoted market price on the last market day of the financial year.

The held-for-trading investment is denominated in HK doltars.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND FLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Cash on hand

Cash at bank

Fixed deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Pledged bank deposits

GROUP
2010 2009

RME"000 RMB’000
1,890 1,320
3,703,675 4,414,590
2,108,888 2,136,778
5814453  6,552.697
5,257 24,347

COMPANY
2010 2009
RMB*000 RMB’000
11,002 2,153
- 1,191,687
1002 1,195.840

Pledged bank deposits, cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and short term bank
deposits with an original maturity of 3 months or less. The carrying amounts of these assets
approximate their fair values. !

The effective imterest rates for fixed deposits and pledged bank deposits are 1.2% (2009 : 0.7%)
and 2.8% (2009 : 4.2%) per anmum respectively.

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to secure certain mortgage loans provided
by banks to customers for the purchase of the Group’s development properties and as securities for
construction contracts required by certain suppliers and local authorities.

The cash and bank balances that arc not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective
entities are as follows:

GROUP COMPANY
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMRB'000  RMB'000
US dollars 830,245 60,688 5,522 81
HK dollars 449,264 787 1.771 283
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20 SHARE CAPITAL

GROUP AND COMPANY
2010 2009 2010 2009
000 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Number of ordinary shares
Issued and paid up:
At beginning of year 1,943,424 1,831,334 7,226,578 6,162,005
Issuance of shares pursuant to
offering exercise, net of expenses - 110,000 - 1,051,827
Issuance of shares under
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme 740 2.0%0 4,658 12,746
At end of year 1.944.164 1,943,424 7,231,236 7,226,578

Fully paid up ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry cone vote per share and carry a right to
dividends as and when declared by the Company.

21  BANK LOANS
GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
The bank loans are repayable as follows:

On demand or within one year . 1,942,853 1,210,459
More than one year but not exceeding two years 4,155,813 605,500
More than two years but not exceeding five years 2,246,597 1,643,750
More than five years 214,750 199,250

8,560,013 3,658,930
Tess: Amount due for settlement within

12 months (shown under current liabilities) {1,942 853) (1,210,459

Amount due for seitlement after 12 months 6.617.160 2.448.500
Secured:

- Current bank loans 1,305,500 451,500

- Non-current bank lpans 3,756,007 2,008,500

5,061,597 2,550,000

Unsecured 3,498,416 1,108,958

8,560,013 3,658,959

The above secured bauk loans are pledged on the following:

Properties for development 1,029,930 747,313
Completed properties for sale 13,896 201,486
Properties under development for sale 7,458,784 4,093,057
Investment propetties 4,929,719 1,867,292
Construction-in-progress 41,818 -
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The bank loans that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities are as
follows:
GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000

HK dollars 2,616,416 658.959

As at the end of the reporting period, the bank loans for the purpose of property development,
amounting to RMB2.616 billion (2009 : RMB65% million) bear floating interest rate of 2.8%
(2009 : 1.5%) plus HIBOR per annum and the effective interest rate was 4.2% (2009 : 2.9%) per
annunt, .

The other baok loans which are for the purpose of property development, bear floating interest rates
based on a bank’s prime rate and the average effective interest rate was 5.4% (2009 : 5.4%) per
annum. :

The carrying amounts of bank loans approximate their fair values as the interest rates approximate the
prevailing market rates.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES
The convertible notes comprise notes issued in 2007 and 2009,

(2) The convertible notes issued on February 6, 2007 (“Notes 2012”) will matire on February 6,
2012, The Notes 2012 accrue imierest at 4.00% per anbum, compounded semi-
annuaily. Accrued interest on Notes 2012 is payable only at maturity or upon early redemption,
and will be foregone upon conversion of the Notes 2012. The conversion price was initially
S$2.7531 per share, and has been adjusted on account of the dividend distributions to $$2.6500
and S$2.6200 per share as at December 31, 2009 and 2010 respectively. The conversion price
may be further adjusted for certain specified dilutive events. On February 4, 2010, the holders
of S$315 million outstanding Notes 2012 exercised the option to redeem the cutstanding Notes

- 2012. As of December 31, 2010, S$24 million Notes 2012 remained ouistanding for conversion
into ordinary shares. The Notes 2012 are convertible into 9,064,885 and 127,641,509 new
ordinary shares of the Company as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 respeciively based on the
adjusted conversion price at the option of the holders.

(b) The convertible notes issued on July 13, 2009 (“Notes 2014™) will mature on July 13, 2014.
The Notes 2014 accrme interest af 5.85% per amnum with interest payable on January 13 and
July 13 of each year, commencing on January 13, 2010. The conversion price was initially
55$2.6208 per share, and has been adjusted on account of the dividend distributions to $$2.5900
per share as at December 31, 2010. The conversion price may be further adjusted for certain
specified dilutive and otber events. The Notes 2014 are convertible into 144,787,644 and
143,086,080 new ordinary shares of the Company as at December 31, 2010 and 2009
respectively based on the adjusted conversion price at the option of the holders. The Company
may, ai any time on or after July 13, 2011 but before July 3, 2014, mandatorily convert all of
the Notes 2014 if the volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares is at least 130%
of the conversion price in effect on the date of notice.
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The nei proceeds received from the issue of the Notes 2012 and Notes 2014 have been aflocated
between the liability and equify components. The equity component represents the fair value of the
embedded option of the Company to convert the Hability into equity:

GROQUP AND COMPANY
2010 2009

RMB’000 RMB’000
Nominal value of Notes 2012 and Notes 2014 issued 4,330,027 4,115,174
Equity component {gross before allocation of transaction costs) {659,6906) (626,962)
Transaction costs (98,854) (93,946}
Liability component at date of issue @ 3,571,477 3,394,266
Curnnlative inferest accrued 666,339 446,492
Cumulative interest paid (111,458) -
Converted to equity _ (611,267 (580,937)
Redemption (1,665,484) -
Fair value adjustment for the year {24,232) -
Total 1,825,375 3,259,821
Interest payable within one year included in other payables (Note 25) (52,942) (49,727)
Liabitity component (Non-current) at end of year @ 1,772,433 3.210.094

®  Transaction costs included non-audit fees of RMB2 million and RMB! million paid to the
auditors of the Company and its affiliated firm in 2009 and 2007 respectively in connection with
the offer of convertible notes of the Company,

@ Included in Hability component is put option of holders of Notes 2014 amounting to RMB12
million (2009: RMB34 million) as at December 31, 2010. As at December 31, 2009, the
management has determined that the fair value of the put option had not changed materially
between the date of issue of Notes 2014 and the end of the year 2000. The fair value of put
option of holders of Notes 2014 is stated at the valuation provided by an independent valuer,
Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns Limited, for put option of holders of Notes 2014 as at
December 31, 2010 by using the Binominal Model,

The cumulative interest accrued on Notes 2012 is caleulated by applying an effective interest rate of
8.0% (2009 : 8.0%) per annum to the liability component. The cumulative interest accrued on Notes
2014 1s calculated by applying an effective interest rate of 11.3% (2009 : 11.3%) per anpum to the
liability component.

The management estimates the fair value of the Iiability compoment of the Notes 2012 at
December 31, 2010 to be approximately RMB 133 million (2009 : RMB1.659 billion). This fair
value has been calculated by assuming redemption on Febmary 6, 2012 and using interest rate of
9.7% (2009 : 8.9%) per annum, compounded semi-anmually. The interest rate is based on Singapore
government’s two-year treasury bill rate of 1.6% (2009 : two-year treasury bill rate of 2.6%) per
anoum which will mature on April 1, 2013 (2009 : April 1, 2012), a credit spread risk margin of
5.9% (2009 : 4.3%) per anmum and holding the liquidity risk rate as a percentage of both the risk free
rate and the liquidity risk rate constant.
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An independent valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle Salimanns Limited, estimates the fair value of the liability
component of the Notes 2014 (excluding put option) at December 31, 2810 to be approximately
RMB1.794 billion. Fair value is estimated using a Binominal Model that consists of some assumptions
that are supportable by observable market rates, which includes risk free rate of 0.95%, volatility rate
of 64.32% and expected dividend yield rate of Nil%. The interest rate used to discount cash flows
was 8.94% (2009 : 10.93%), which was derived from factors such as risk free rate and credit spread
of comparable companies with similar credit ratings and bonds® maturity.

At December 31, 2009, mavagement was of the view that the carrying amount of Notes 2014
approximated its fair value.

Notes 2012 and Notes 2014 are denominated in the fanctional currency of the Company.

SENIOR NOTES

The senior notes issued on May 4, 2010 will mature on May 4, 2017. The senior notes bears interest
at 9.5% per annem with interest payable on May 4 and November 4 of each year, commencing on
November 4, 2010. Prior to the maturily of the senior notes, the Company may redeem the notes, in
whoie or in part, based om the stipulated redemption price at the point of redemption. The senior notes
are denominated in US dollars.

GROUP AND
_COMPANY
2010
RMB’000
Nominal value of senior notes issued 2,101,733
Transaction costs ¢ : {(53,693)
At date of issue 2,048,040
Cumulative interest accrued 133,787
Cumulative interest paid (96,091)
Exchange difference (116,351)
Total 1,969,385
Interest payable within one year included in other payables (Note 25) (29,885}
Liability (Non-current) at end of year 1.939.500

% Transaction costs incladed non-audit fees of RMB2 million paid to the auditors of the Company
in 2010 in commection with the issuance of senior notes of the Company.

Interest is accrued at the effective interest rate of 10.3% per annum.,

The management is of the view that the carrying amount of the senior notes approximates its fair
value as the market interest rate as at December 31, 2010 approximates the nominal interest rate of
the senior notes.

In 2010, six of its subsidiaries provided a joint gnarantee in respect of semior motes issued by the
Company amounting to RMB1.987 billion (US$300 million) for a term of seven years up to May 4,
2017. Additionally, shares in six of its subsidiaries are charged in favour of the globai security agent
and trustee of the notes.

The manapement is of the view that the fair value of the financial guarantee provided by the
subsidiaries is not significant.
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24 TRADE PAYABLES
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26

Outside parties

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000  RMB’000
3,002,504  1.760.237

The average credit period for trade payables is 107 days (2009 : 104 days).

The trade payables are substantially denominated in the functional currencies of the respective

entities,

OTHER PAYABLES
GROUP
2010 2009

RMB’000 RMB’000
Advances received from customers 5,551,641 4,932,251
Accrued ¢xpenses 43,671 95,462
Interest payable 92,864 54,649
Other payables 222.350 139,101

5,910,526 5,221,463

COMPANY
2010 2009
RMB000 RMB’000
4,922 2,011
32,828 49,727
- 241
87.750 31.979

The other payables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities are

GROUP

as follow:
2010
RMB’Q00
TS doilars 29,885
REVENUE

Gross income from property development
Less: Business tax
Net income from property development

Gross income from property investment
Less: Business tax
Net income from property investment

Gross income from ofthers
Less: Business tax
Net income from others

Total

68

2009
RMB*000

—_—

COMPANY
2010 2009
RMB'000  RMB’000
29,885 -
GROUP
2010 ~ 2009
RMB’000  RMB'000
7,497,669 7,664,324
(374,258)  _(384,630)
7,123,411 7,279,694
118,239 44,348
(10.263) (2,848)
107,976 42,000
162,923 137,872
(10,560) (9,027)
152,363 128,845
7383750  7.450,539




27 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
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Doubtful debts recovered

Dividend income from available-for-sale investment
Dividend income from held-for-trading investment
Fair value gain on investment properties (Note 8)

- Fair value gain on held-for-trading investment

Fair value gain on put option

Interest income

Excess of fair values of net identifiable assets acquired
over the cost of business combination

Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Net gain on disposal of investment properties

Net foreign exchange gain

Government subsidies

Others

Total

FINANCE COST

Interest on bank loans
Interest on converiible notes
Interest on senior notes
Interest to a shareholder of the Company
Interest to non-controfling shareholders of subsidiaries
Total
Less: Interest capitalised in
- properties for development
- properties undér development for sale
Net

INCOME TAX

Current - Foreign

Deferred income tax (Note 15)
Deferred withholding tax (Note 15)
Withholding tax

Land appreciation tax (“LAT")
Under provision in prior years
Total
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GROUP
2010 2009
RMEB000 RMB’G00
- 7
5,483 5,483
229 198
906,296 562,116
- 1,740
23,410 -
45,883 31,158
- 344
577 -
- 747
100,569 5,545
8,761 46.294
47.336 1,174
1,138,544 654,806
GROUP
2010 2009
RMB'000  RMB'000
363,442 239,838
189,866 195,169
129,247 -
- 122
15,999 21,698
698,554 456,827
(101,264) (50,847)
(464,168) (320,711
133,122 —85.269
GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000  RMB'000
585,796 545,569
166,761 89,507
122,741 200,341
. 60,710
1,270,861 1,341,092
24,164 61,207
2.170.323 22298.426




No provision for Singapore taxation has been made as the majority of the Greup’s income neither
arises in, nor is derived from Singapore.

Taxation arising in the PRC is calculated at the prevailing rate of 22.0% (2009 : 20.0%) for major
PRC operating subsidiaries. The prevailing rate in the other subsidiaries is at 22.0% to 25.0% in
2010 (2009 : 10.0% to 25.0%).

On March 16, 2007, the PRC promuigated the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“New
Law”) by Order No.63 of the President of the PRC, with an effective date of January 1, 2008. On
December 28, 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued Implementation Regulations of the New
Law. Due to the New Law and Implementation Regulations, the PRC subsidiaries will be subject to
25.0% Enterprise Income Tax, commencing January 1, 2008 except that certain subsidiaries which
- originglly enjoy the preferential tax rates shall gradually transit to the tax rate of 25.0% within 5 years
after the enforcement of the new tax law.

The income tax expense varied from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying the
above income tax rate to profit before income tax as a result of the following differences:

GROUP
2010 2000
RMB’000 RMB*000

Income tax expense at PRC applicable tax rate of 22%*

(2009 : 20%%) 093,119 861,873
Non-deductible items 29,413 39,537
Non-taxable items (5,281 (2,799)
Effect of unutilised tax losses mot recognised as deferred tax assets 9,183 11,460
Effect of different tax rates for certain subsidiaries 20,966 31,361
LAT 1,270,861 1,341,092
Effect of tax deduction on LAT (279,589) (268,219)
Withholding tax incurred 122,741 261,051
Under provision in prior years 24,164 61,207
Others {24,254) (38,137)
Total income tax expense 2.170.323 2,208,426

* These are the applicable tax rates for most of the Group’s taxable profits.
Income tax for overseas subsidiaries is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdiction.

According to a2 PRC tax circular of State Administration of Taxation, Guoshuihan (2008) No.112,
dividend distributed out of the profits generated since January 1, 2008 held by the PRC entity to non-
resident investors shall be subject to PRC withholding income tax. Deferred tax liability of RMB121
million (2009 : RMB194 million) on the undistributed earnings of the PRC subsidiaries has been
charged to the consolidated income statement of the year.
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LAT

As disclosed in the prior years’ audited consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company, after taking inio account legal advice received and consultation with the local Shanghai
Pudong Tax Bureau, are of the opinion that the relevant tax authority is not likely to impose any LAT
on a retrospective basis. In 2010 and 2009, management has not received any new communications
from the Shanghai Pudong Tax Bureau specific to LAT for properties sold by the Group in Shanghai
Pudong New Distriet prior to October 1, 2006 which cause the above management’s evaluation to
change. Accordingly, no provision has been made in respect of those properties sold in Pudong New
District prior to October 1, 2006.

If LAT was to be levied on the Group’s Shanghai Pudong New District properties in accordance with
the Provisional Regulations on a retrospective basis, the Group would have incurred additional LAT
in the aggregate amount of RMBS534 million for the financial periods prior to October 1, 2006, as
adjusted for non-controlling interests and for income tax deductions. Should any of these exposures
materialise, the Group’s net profit will be impacted by the same amount.

The management of the Company is of the view that the acmal LAT payable as required under the
Provisional Regulations approximates the amount of LAT actually paid and acciued by the Group for
the PRC subsidiaries as at December 31, 2010.

The actzal Group’s LAT Iliabilities are snbject to the determination by the tax authorities upon
completion of the property development projects.
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):
GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB 000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment @ 27.803 22.825

Employee benefits expense (including directors’ remuneration):

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 16,519 14,606
Salaries and other shori-term benefits 252,659 205,866
Total employee benefits expense 269,178 220.472
Directors’ fees 1,963 1,863
Directors’ remuneration:

- of the Company 30,534 24,272
- of the snbsidiaries - 4,451 3,364

34,985 27,636
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Fair value gain on investment properties (Notc 8)

Fair value loss (gain) on held-for-trading investment

Fair value gain on put option

Loss on redemption on convertible notes

Net (gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Net loss (gain) on disposal of investrent properties

Net foreign exchange gain

Excess of fair values of net identifiable assets acquired over
the cost of business combination (Note 34)

Cost of completed properties for sale recopnised as expenses

Non-andit fees:

- paid to auditors of the Company

- paid to other auditors

GROUP

2010 ~ 2009
RME’000  RMB'000
(906,206)  (562,116)

131 (1,740)
(23,410) -
17,949 -

(577 103

4,014 (747
(100,569) (5,545)

- (344

3,205,609 3,164,028
541 32
700 500

®  In 2010, RMB2 miilion (2009 : RMB2 million) of depreciation of property, plant and
equipment is capitalised in properties for development and properties under development for
sale as these property, plant and equipment are specifically employed in the development of

properties for sale.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share aitributable to the ordinary equity holders

of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings

Earnings for the putposes of basic earnings per share
(profit for the year attributabie to equity holders
of the Company)

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Interests on convertible notes

Barnings for the purposes of diluted earnings per share

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purposes of basic earnings per share
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Share opiions
Convertible notes
Weighted average mumber of ordinary shares for the
purposes of diluted earnings per share

Earnings per share (cents):
Basic

Diluted

72

GROUP

2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB’000
1,947,977 1,496,263
2,052 536,709
I8 1390
1,943,647 1,888,803
2,474 3,502
164,811 193,868
2,110,932 2.086.173
100,22 _ 7922
02,38 74,44
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For the financial year ended December 31, 2009, the directors declared a first and final one-tier tax
exempt dividend of 8.11 cents (equivalent to 1.68 Singapore cents) per ordinary share amounting to
RMBI157,659,638, which was paid during 2010.

In 2009, RMB100,605,257 of dividends was paid in respect of a first and final one-tier tax exempt
dividend of 5.49 cents {(equivalent to 1.23 Singapore cents) per ordinary share declared for the
financial year ended December 31, 2008.

In respect of the current year, the directors proposed a first and final one-tier tax exempt dividend of
5.99 cents (equivalent to 1.22 Singapore cents) per ordinary share amounting to RMB116,419,020.
The dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been
included as a liability in these financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s reportable operating segments are as follows:

(i) Property development: Development of residential, commercial and other properties.

(ii) Property investment: Leasing of investment properties to generate rental income and to gain
from the appreciation in the value of the properties in the long term.

(iif) Others: Provision of property management, ancillary services, investment ilolding and others.
Information regarding the operations of each reportable segments are included below. The
management monitors the operating results of each operating segment for the purpose of making

decisions on resource allocation and performance assessment.

The Group’s operations are located in the PRC, hence no analysis by geographical arez of operations
is provided.

Segment revenne and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by reporiable segment:

GROUP
Profit (loss)

Revenue before income tax

2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB*000 ¢ RMRB00 RMB’000
Property development 7,123,411 7,279,694 3,713,646 3,919,122
Property investment 107,976 42,000 934212 546,406

Others 152.363 128,845 {133,679 (156,165)

Total ' 7,383.750 7.450,539 4,514,179 4,309,363
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Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment as determined using the Group’s
accounting policy. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes
of resources ailocation and assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets
GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000

Propetty development 37,041,226 27,383,710
Property investment 6,022,678 3,247,694
Others - 1,749,391 1,770,310
Total assets , 44,813,295 32,401,714

All assets are allocated to reportable segments. Liabilities are not allocated as they are not monitored

by the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.

Other segment information

GROUP
Additions to
Depreciation non-current assets
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Property development 19,060 14,344 9,893,997 3,413,727
Property investment 4,174 3,668 1,473,446 1,034,545
Others 4,569 4,813 5,263 2,576
Total 27.803 22,825 11,372,706 4,450,848

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY

On December 1, 2009, a subsidiary of the Company, Shanghai Yanlord Investment Management
Co., Lid., acquired a wholly-owned subsidiary, incorporated in the PRC, Shanghai Zhongting
Property Development Co,, Ltd. (*SZPD"), for a total cash consideration of RMB25 million. This
teansaction had been accounted for by the purchase method of accounting.
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The net assets acquired in the transaction were as follows:

Carrying
amount before Fair value
acquisition adjustments Fair value
RMRB'000 RMB’0G0 RMB’000
2009
Net assets acquired:
Cash and bank balances : 844 - 844
Other receivables and deposits 24,500 - 24,500
25,344
Excess of fair values of net identifizble
assets acquired over the cost of business
combination (Note 30) (344)
Total consideration satisfied by cash 23,000
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration (25,000)
Cash apd bank balances of a subsidiary acquired 844
(24.156)

The management is of the view that the deferred tax impact on the excess of the Group’s interest in
the net fair value of the acquired subsidiaries’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent Habilities
over cost is not significant.

The subsidiary acquired during 2009 contributed RMB0.3 million loss to the Group’s profit for the
year for the period between the date of acquisition and the end of the reporting pertod last
year. There is no revenue contributed by the subsidiary acquired during 2009.

If the acquisition had been completed on January 1, 2009, total Group’s profit for the year in 2009
would be RMB2.011 billion. There is no impact to total Group’s revenue and profit for the year.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The options under the Scheme grant the right to the holder to subscribe for new ordinary shares of the
Company at the discount of fifteen percent (15%) of the IPO offer share price of S$1.08. The options
granted under the Scheme will be exercisable after the second anniversary of the date of grant of the
options and all options must be exercised before the fifth anniversary from the date of grant of the
options. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company on the date immediately
preceding the Offer Date of the Option.

Each option grants the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company. The
options may be exercised in full or in part thereof, By virtue of the options, the holders do not have
the right to participate in any share issue of the other companies in the Group. Options granied are
cancelled when the holder is no longer a full time employee of the Company or any corporations in
the Group subject to certain exceptions in accordance with the rules of the Scheme.
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The above share option scheme is administered by a Pre-IPO Share Option Management Committee.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

GROUP AND COMPANY
2010 2000
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of share exercise of share exercise
options price options price
000 S$ 000 S$
Outstanding and exercisable
at beginning of year 5,312 0.92 7,402 0.92
Exercised during the year (740) 0.92 {2,090) 0.92
Lapsed during the year - 0.92 - 0.92
Outstanding and exercisable
at end of year 4,572 .92 5,312 0.92

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year
was S$1.78 (2009 : 5$2.35). The options outsianding at end of the year have a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 0.5 year (2009 : 1.5 years).

The estimated fair values of the options granted on June 21, 2006 were RMB27 million (equivalent to
5$5.3 million).

These fair values for share options granted in 2006 were calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing
model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

53
Weighted average share price 1.08
Weighted average exercise price 0.92
Expected volatility 20.04%
Expected life 2
Risk free rate 3.64%

Expected dividend yield : -

Expected volatility was determiined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share
price over the previous 3 months. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

In 2010 and 2009, no expense related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions were
recognised by the Group and the Company.
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OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as leasee

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB'0 000 RMB’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases

recognised as an expense in the year 15.409 23,313

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has cutstanding commitments under non-cancellable
operating leases, which fall due as follows:

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB 000 EMB’000
Within one year 14,414 12,072
In the second to fifth year inclusive 12,928 15,309
More than five years 10,120 -
37.462 27.381

Operating lease payments substantially represent rental payables by the Group in respect of land and
buildings for its office premises and staff accommodation. Leases are negotiated for an average term
of less than three years (2009; less than two years).

The Group as lessor

The Group remis out its investment properlies and certain completed properties for sale in the
PRC under operating leases. Property rental income earned during the vear was RMB112 mﬂhon
(2009 : RMB41 million).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has contracted with tenants for the following future
minimnm lease receipts:

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Within one year 196,130 70,778
In the second to fifth year inclusive 630,095 446,974
More than five years 916,298 972,229

1,742.523 1.489.981
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

Estimated amounts committed for future capital expenditure but not provided for in the financial
statements:

GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Construction of properties 2,681,588 2,617,355
Acquisition of land use rights 2,937,570 2,844,313
Additional capital injection in subsidiaries 300,000 442,231
Others 5,892

5.925 050 5,903,899

CONTINGENCIES AND GUARANTEES

As at December 31, 2010, the Group has provided guarantees of approximately RMB1.857 billion
(2009 : RMB2.038 billion) to banks for the benefit of its customers in respect of mortgage loans
provided by the banks to these customers for the purchase of the Group’s development
properties. Should such guarantees be called upon, there would be an cutflow of cash (previcusly
collected by the Group)} from the Group to the banks to discharge the obligations. The management
has made enguiries with the banks and considered the profile of customers who buy the Group’s
properties and concluded that the likelihood of these guarantees being called upon is low. These
guarantees provided by the Group to the baoks would be released upon receiving the building
ownership certificate of the respective properties by the banks from the customers as security for the
mortgage loan granted.

As at December 31, 2009, the Company, together with six of its subsidiaries had provided a joint
guarantee to banks in respect of a loan facility granted to a subsidiary amounting to RMB1.366 billion
(equivalent to US$200 million) and up to November 6, 2010. On January 29, 2010, the loan and
interest payable were fully repaid and the loan facility was cancelled accordingly.

As at Degember 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company together with six of its subsidiaries have provided a
joint guarantee to banks in respect of a loan facility granted to a subsidiary amounting to RMB2.649
billion {equivalent to US$400 million) for a term of two years (2009 : three years) up to
December 17, 2012.

The management is of the view that the fair value of the financial guarantee provided by the Group
and the Company is not significant.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

In March 2011, the Company gave a mandate to banks to manage a proposed United States dollar
bond issue.
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